RECEIVED

11-13-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Case No. 2013 AP001447

JESSE J. FRANKLIN, JR.,

v.

Defendant-Appellant.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT MILWAUKEE COURT FOR COUNTY. THE HONORABLE WILLIAM SOSNAY PRESIDING, AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF **ENTERED** IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR **MILWAUKEE** COUNTY, HONORABLE THE TIMOTHY G. DUGAN PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ISSUE PRESENTED

In original and supplemental § 974.06 postconviction motions, Mr. Franklin alleged that newly discovered evidence supported Mr. Franklin's trial defense that the physical evidence, a gun and drugs, used against him at trial were not his, and he did not know how they got into the van. Mr. Franklin presented extensive documentary evidence in support of factual averments that at least one of the officers that arrested him had engaged in numerous acts of misconduct including involvement in attempts to frame other suspects. Did the circuit court err by denying Mr. Franklin's postconviction motion without ordering a new trial or evidentiary hearing?

The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Although the facts of the case are somewhat lengthy, the issue presented in this case is relatively simple and can be decided in accordance with legal principles set forth in *State v. Missouri*, 2006 WI App 74, 291 Wis.2d 466, 714 N.W.2d 595. Therefore oral argument and publication are unnecessary.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Trial Proceedings

This case began on July 25, 2003, when the state charged Mr. Franklin with (1) Possession of THC with Intent to Distribute (>200-1000g), (2) Possession of Cocaine with Intent to Distribute (>15-40g), and (3) Felon in Possession of a Firearm (2:1-3).

According to the complaint and the testimony at trial, on July 23, 2003 at about 4 p.m., Officer Paul Lough

and Officer James Campbell, assigned to District III, were patrolling in an unmarked squad car traveling 15-20 m.p.h. westbound on Clybourn. (51:27-35, 46). Near the intersection of 29th Street and Clybourn, they saw Jesse Franklin standing in the middle of the street. Campbell claimed that he saw Franklin reaching his left hand into the window of a passing vehicle, leading him to suspect that a drug transaction was occurring. (51:35-36). They decided to circle the block and took a left onto 30th and They saw Franklin standing by the two more lefts. passenger window of a van parked in front of 423 N. 29th Street. The officers parked and exited their vehicle. Campbell testified that when he approached the van, Franklin reached his hand into the open window of the van, pulled it back quickly, stepped back, and threw down a set of keys. (51:40-46).

Campbell subjected Franklin to a pat-down frisk, which was negative for weapons. Franklin said "I didn't do anything. What is this all about?" Campbell told Franklin to relax. He asked Franklin who owned the van and Franklin allegedly first said that it was his mother's van, then said that it was Charlie's van. Campbell determined that the keys belonged to the van. (51:46-48). Jesse Franklin testified that he got the keys to the van from his mother, Dorothy Franklin. On the afternoon of the incident, he gave the keys to a person that he played basketball with who asked to borrow the van to go get some clothes to play basketball. He received a call from this individual and they agreed that Mr. Franklin would pick up the van at 433 N. 29th Street. He arrived at the location and a woman gave him the keys. (53:120-126, 180-181).

As he was proceeding southbound on 29th street he saw Fred, a person he knew from playing basketball at Merrill Park on 35th and Clybourn. Fred was in his car parked at the curb on the corner of 29th and St. Paul. Jesse went over to Fred and talked to him. After he finished talking to Fred, he walked toward the van. The police squad car drove up and he could see the officers looking at him. The squad car swerved in front of him onto the sidewalk in front of 429 N. 29th Street. The officers exited the vehicle. Thinking that the officers were targeting him, Jesse took out the keys and cell phone, but dropped the keys. (53:126-134, 143). The officers began questioning him and made him sit on the curb. They took the keys to the van and searched the van. He heard one of the officer's say "Arrest him." Jesse said "What for?" The officer said "You know what for." Jesse testified that he did not put the gun and the drugs in the van and said he did not know how the items got there. (53:136-139).

The jury never heard about any misconduct committed by the arresting officers and convicted Mr. Franklin all counts. On January 25, 2006, Mr. Franklin was sentenced to two years confinement and two years extended supervision on Count 1, three years confinement and five years extended supervision on Count 2, consecutive to Count 1, and 18 months confinement and two years extended supervision on Count 3, consecutive to Count 2. (54).

B. Rule 809.30 Postconviction Motion and Subsequent Appeal.

On January 29, 2007, Attorney Lynn Hackbarth filed a Rule 809.30 postconviction motion which is not relevant to this appeal and which was ultimately unsuccessful. (31).

After one extension, Attorney Hackbarth filed a Notice of Appeal on April 20, 2007. (35). On appeal, Attorney Hackbarth raised issues relating to ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to investigate; denial of a right to speedy trial; the trial court's denial of a suppression motion; and abuse of sentencing discretion. Attorney Hackbarth did not raise any of the issues discussed herein relating to the new evidence of the credibility and misconduct of the arresting officers. On May 20, 2008, the Court of Appeals issued a decision affirming the circuit court order denying the postconviction motion. (56). On April 3, 2009, Attorney Hackbarth was permitted to withdraw as Appellate Counsel and Attorney Melissa Fitzsimmons was appointed as successor counsel. (62, 63). Attorney Fitzsimmons then filed a No Merit petition for review. The petition for review was denied on May 8, 2009. (69).

C. The 974.06 Postconviction Motions

Undersigned counsel was assigned to represent Mr. Franklin in further postconviction proceedings. On January 15, 2013, Mr. Franklin filed a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 postconviction motion, alleging that (1) newly discovered evidence established that the officers in Mr. Franklin's case belonged to a group of rogue officers and previous convictions involving this group of officers have been overturned pursuant to *Missouri*, 2006 WI App 74 291; and (2) in the interests of justice because the real controversy was not fully tried. Franklin also argued in the alternative that his postconviction counsel was ineffective should the state or trial court have argued that

Franklin's case failed the second prong of the *McCallum* test, requiring a finding that his trial (or postconviction) attorneys were not negligent in finding the newly discovered evidence. Such an argument was not advanced by either the State or the trial court. (70).

Mr. Franklin presented evidence in the form of publicly available information and named witnesses that would testify that between 2002 and 2005, a group of rogue patrol officers in District III were beating up suspects and planting evidence on them. This group of rogue officers included Officers Awadallah and Mucha, whose misconduct has been reported in the newspaper, but this rogue group also included other officers who worked with Awadallah and Mucha and this group included Officer Lough, one of the arresting officers in this case. (70). In his Reply brief, Franklin more specifically spelled out the names of witnesses he might subpoena to testify and how they might testify at a hearing or new trial based on said publicly available information attached to his Postconviction Motion and Reply brief, including Jermaine Cameron, Draylon Oliver, Raynard Jackson, Charles Griffin, Ronald Means, Peter Glover, and Walter T. Missouri. (79).

1. Jermaine Cameron

Jermaine Cameron complained that he was framed by Officer Timothy McNair, Officer Keith Dodd, and other District III police officers, including Officer Lough, in Milwaukee Case Number 2002-CF-6863. On December 5, 2002, police officers discovered a plastic bag containing 40 corner cuts of cocaine weighing less than 5 grams outside a three-story apartment building during a police sweep. Jermaine Cameron was on the third floor in his girlfriend's apartment playing video games with his friend David Young. The cocaine was found outside, under the living room window of the apartment. Officer Keith Dodd and other officers entered the apartment without a warrant and without consent and proceeded to question the occupants. When the police discovered that Mr. Cameron was on probation from a prior conviction for dealing a similar amount of cocaine in the same neighborhood they concluded that the cocaine found outside belonged to Cameron. Officer Timothy McNair then claimed that he was outside the building and saw Cameron throw the cocaine out the window. Cameron and his friends testified that the apartment windows were closed that afternoon and that Cameron had not thrown anything out the window. At a trial, where "other acts" evidence of Cameron's prior conviction was admitted and Dodd and McNair testified against Cameron, Cameron was convicted of possession of cocaine with intent to deliver. (70: Attachment C).

Lough was on the scene and participated in the investigation and arrest of Cameron, although Lough was not called directly at trial. After Cameron's conviction, a postconviction investigation revealed that two days before Cameron's arrest, Freddy Lovett and Demochio Boone were arrested for dealing drugs out of the first floor apartment, directly under the apartment where Cameron was arrested. According to Lovett's girlfriend and Lovett himself, Lovett and Boone hid cocaine in the same location where the cocaine used to convict Cameron was found. Cameron filed a postconviction motion based on newly discovered evidence which was denied by Judge The court of appeals, in an unpublished Lamelas. decision which has no precedential value as legal authority, reversed and remanded the case for a hearing. After remand, the parties reached a settlement where the conviction was vacated and Mr. Cameron entered a No Contest plea to a misdemeanor and received time served. (70: Attachment C).

2. Draylon Oliver

Draylon Oliver accused officers Joseph Warren, Paul Lough, Dean Newport and Michael Lutz of beating him during a 2003 arrest. (70: Attachment D).

3. Raynard Jackson

Milwaukee Police Officers Ala Awadallah, Paul Lough and Thomas Dineen were on patrol when they saw Raynard Jackson and his co-defendant Morris Rash outside the Guru Food Store. Jackson and Rash entered the store. The squad car circled the block and when it returned, the officers saw Jackson and Rash walking down the street. When they saw the police, they ran in opposite directions; both Jackson and Rash were subject outstanding warrants. Lough chased to Jackson; Awadallah chased Rash. Lough testified that while he was chasing Jackson, he "saw him take his right hand and reach in the area of his right waistband and kind of turn and then he discarded what appeared to be a black firearm, semiautomatic pistol." Lough testified that he recovered a forty caliber Glock pistol while pursuing Jackson, and admitted that this was the same type of gun issued to police officers. Jackson was ultimately apprehended by Officer Keith Dodd. Lough also testified that he placed the Glock he recovered in inventory; however, police inventory reports indicate that it was actually Awadallah, not Lough, who placed the Glock in inventory. The pistol did not bear Jackson's fingerprints and had not been reported as stolen. Jackson's defense was that he was framed by police.

A jury found Jackson guilty of possessing a firearm as a felon, carrying a concealed weapon, and resisting an officer, in violation of WIS. STAT. §§

941.29(2)(a) (amended Feb. 1, 2003), 941.23 (2003-04) and 946.41(1) (2003-04). After initial post-conviction proceedings that failed to raise any of the issues of misconduct involving the rogue officers, Jackson's second postconviction counsel raised the issues as to whether that original postconviction counsel was deficient for failing to raise the publicly disclosed misconduct of the same officers involved in Jackson's apprehension. The Hon. Jeffrey A. Kremers summarily denied Jackson's postconviction motion for a new trial based on ineffective assistance of his original postconviction counsel. The Court of Appeals, in an unpublished decision which has no precedential value as legal authority, reversed and remanded the case for a hearing. After remand, the parties reached a settlement where the State agreed to dismiss Counts 1 & 2 of possessing a firearm as a felon and carrying a concealed weapon. At an evidentiary hearing or new trial, Jackson's testimony would clearly give rise to an inference that Lough had planted the forty caliber police-issued Glock pistol during the same time period of Franklin's arrest under similar circumstances. (70: Attachment E; App. 131-142).

4. Charles Griffin

On May 5, 2005, Charles Michael Griffin – a soldier on leave from Iraq – named Officer Paul Lough in

a Complaint filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin. Specifically, Griffen claimed that he had not committed an act contrary to the laws of the State of Wisconsin and the officers used excessive force, beat him several times, and falsely arreseted him. (70: Attachment K).

5. Ronald Means (and Peter Glover, et al.)

On January 7, 2004, Eastern District Judge Adelman suppressed the evidence secured by police in the arrest of Ronald Means on the same date and in the same investigation that resulted in the arrest of Walter T. Missouri and eventually lead to the published *Missouri* decision. Lough did, in fact, testify in that case. Officer James Cambell, Lough's partner in Franklin's case, was also involved in the investigation, but it's unclear whether he testified at the hearing. Remarkably, two years before the Missouri decision, Judge Adelman found the testimony of Means and Glover more credible than the "evasive" and "contradictory" testimony of a number of officers involved in the investigation, including Lough.

Lough and Campbell were part of an "area saturation patrol" ("ASP"), a special unit that handles complaints of drug dealing, prostitution and the illegal use of weapons in Police District 3. On January 7, 2004, Officers Ray Harris and Virgil Cotton were traveling south on North 38th Street with Lough and Campbell following in a squad behind them. At a suppression hearing, the officers testified that Means ran a stop sign at the intersection of North 38th Street and West Lloyd Street. They stopped the vehicle in front of 2015 North 36th Street, a building owned by Means' family, when they discovered an outstanding municipal warrant. The officers arrested Means, discovered a bag of cocaine and a gun, and spent the next three plus hours searching the 36th Street building and another building associated with Means located on North 38th Street.

Means testified at his suppression hearing that he and Glover had been doing rehab work on several properties owned by his family, including 2201-03 North 38th Street. He stated that after completing their work they picked up his thirteen-year-old son from school and were proceeding to the property at 2015 North 36th Street (where Glover lived) to retrieve some tools and talk about the next day's work schedule. En route, Glover asked Means to pull over and let him out at a store on the corner of 38th and Lloyd so that he could buy some beer and talk to two people in the store. Means and Glover both testified that defendant came to a complete stop and let Glover out before turning left onto Lloyd.

While proceeding east on Lloyd, Means saw an unmarked police car approaching from the opposite direction. After it passed, Means observed the vehicle pull into an alley between 38th and 39th Streets and turn around as if to follow him. Means turned onto 36th Street, pulled over in front of 2015 North 36th and exited the vehicle. He then heard someone shout, "put your hands up," and turned and saw Harris. Means asked Harris why the police had stopped him, and Harris said that they were looking for a tan vehicle. Means testified that Harris then took various sets of keys from his person and tried to use them to open the door of the 36th Street property. Unsuccessful, Harris asked Means, "MF, what keys go to what?" Means did not respond. It became apparent from the "evasive" and "contradictory" testimony of Lough and the other officers at the hearing that what the officers claimed was a routine traffic stop of Means was fabricated by the various officers in order to justify a pretextual stop, unsupported by probable cause, in order to further an ongoing drug investigation of Means and the property on 36th Street.

Lough's police report claimed that someone entered the 36th Street property, causing officers to clear the building of trespassers. Cotton, on the other hand, testified at the suppression hearing that the investigation evolved into something more when the officers saw Walter T. Missouri run out of the 36th Street property. Various officers, including Lough, entered the property and began searching multiple apartment units. Although the testimony of an apparent tenant, Sevell Robey, and Officer Chris Brown, supported by a photograph of Robey's kicked in door, revealed that at least two to four doors in the property had been kicked in, Lough's report (ostensibly the only report prepared regarding the search) stated incredibly that "all of the apartment doors" were "ajar" when the officers entered the property. Ultimately Judge Adelman suppressed the evidence against Means, finding Means' testimony more credible than the various officers in spite of his prior felony record, stating Means' "status as a felon does not automatically render suspect anything he says." (79: Attachment X; App. 143-149).

6. Walter T. Missouri

The published Missouri decision reveals exactly what Walter T. Missouri testified to at his own trial and what he could testify to on Franklin's behalf. It is undisputed that on January 7, 2004, three police officers, Jason Mucha, Paul Lough and Brad Westergard were conducting a drug search near 2162 North 41st Street. *Missouri*, 2006 WI App 74 291 at ¶ 2. According to Missouri, he was sitting in his girlfriend's parked car in front of her friend's home, and his girlfriend had just run in to return a video. *Id.* at ¶ 3. Missouri "then noticed the police approaching the car with their weapons drawn." *Id.* Although the decision does not name the officers included in the group now referred to as "the police," it is implied that this group includes Lough participating directly or indirectly in the investigation and arrest. "[Missouri] then heard [the police] say: 'Don't you f'ing move or I'll shoot you in the f'ing face."" *Id.* Missouri was hit in the back of the head by on object before he began honking the horn of the vehicle in order to draw attention. *Id.* Missouri testified that Mucha in particular put a pistol to the back of his neck and threatened him. *Id.* "Missouri testified that he was then violently pulled from the vehicle, beaten by the police, and that while he was on the ground, they put the baggie of cocaine in his mouth." *Id.*

D. The Circuit Court's Ruling

The circuit court denied Franklin's 974.06 motion without conducting an evidentiary hearing (80; App. XXX). The court's reasoning was as follows:

The defendant alleges that there is newlydiscovered evidence that between 2002 and 2005, there was in District Three of the Milwaukee Police Department a group of rogue officers, including Officer Lough, who were beating up suspects and planting evidence on them. The defendant's claim is predicated upon other prosecutions or incidents occurring during the same time period and involving Officer Lough, all of which he alleges places Officer Lough's credibility in question. Before a new trial may be awarded based on a claim of newly-discovered evidence, the defendant must demonstrate (1) that new evidence was discovered after the trial; (2) that the defendant was not negligent in failing to discover the evidence before trial; (3) that the evidence is material; (4) that the evidence is not cumulative; and (5) that there exists a reasonable probability of a different result at a new trial. The court ordered a briefing schedule in this matter, to which the parties have responded. The court fully agrees with the State's analysis of the issues and finds that the defendant had not met his burden of demonstrating newlydiscovered evidence or ineffective assistance of counsel.

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