# RECEIVED 01-24-2014

# STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

### **DISTRICT I**

Case No. 2013AP1447

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JESSE J. FRANKLIN, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF (WIS. STAT. § 974.06) ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY G. DUGAN PRESIDING

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

MAURA FJ WHELAN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1027974

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. FRANKLIN'S "NEWLY DISCOV-ERED EVIDENCE" DOES NOT WARRANT A NEW TRIAL.

A. Law.

The standards for granting a new trial on the basis of newly discovered evidence are well established:

[A] defendant must prove: "(1) the evidence was discovered after conviction; (2) the defendant was not negligent in seeking the evidence; (3) the evidence is material to an issue in the case; and (4) the evidence is not merely cumulative." If the defendant is able to prove all four of these criteria, then it must be determined whether a reasonable probability exists that had the jury heard the newly-discovered evidence, it would have had a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt.

State v. Plude, 2008 WI 58, ¶32, 310 Wis. 2d 28, 750 N.W.2d 42 (citations omitted).

"A reasonable probability of a different outcome exists if "there is a reasonable probability that a jury, looking at both the [old evidence] and the [new evidence], would have a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt."" *Plude*, 310 Wis. 2d 28, ¶33 (citations omitted). "The question is not whether the evidence *could* create a reasonable doubt." *State v. Avery*, 2013 WI 13, ¶32, 345 Wis. 2d 407, 826 N.W.2d 60. "A court reviewing newly-discovered evidence should consider whether a jury would

find that the newly-discovered evidence had a sufficient impact on other evidence presented at trial that a jury would have a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt." *Plude*, 310 Wis. 2d 28, ¶33. Newly discovered evidence can only meet the reasonable probability standard if it is admissible. If the evidence is inadmissible, it can have no "reasonable probability" of leading the jury to "a different outcome." *See State v. Bembenek*, 140 Wis. 2d 248, 253, 256, 409 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1987).

"Evidence which merely impeaches the credibility of a witness does not warrant a new trial on [that] ground alone." Greer v. State, 40 Wis. 2d 72, 78, 161 N.W.2d 255 (1968); accord Simos v. State, 53 Wis. 2d 493, 499, 192 N.W.2d 877 (1972); Birdsall v. Fraenzel, 154 Wis. 48, 52, 142 N.W. 274 (1913). However, where the impeachment evidence is of a character and magnitude that it shows that "the verdict is based on perjured evidence," a new trial may be warranted. Plude, 310 Wis. 2d 28, ¶47 (quoting *Birdsall*, 154 Wis. at 52 (emphasis added by *Plude* court)). In *Plude*, one of the State's expert witnesses lied about his expert credentials. In the supreme court's view, the defendant might not have been convicted in the absence of that expert's testimony. "We conclude that in a trial rife with conflicting and testimony inconclusive medical expert about [circumstantial] case ... there exists a reasonable probability that, had the jury discovered that [the expert] lied about his credentials, it would have had a reasonable doubt as to Plude's guilt." Plude, 310 Wis. 2d 28, ¶36.

This court reviews the circuit court's newly-discovered-evidence decision for erroneous exercise of discretion on the first four prongs. *See State v. Edmunds*, 2008 WI App 33, ¶14, 308 Wis. 2d 374, 746 N.W.2d 590. Case law is inconsistent as to whether the "reasonable probability" finding is reviewed deferentially or *de novo*. *See Avery*, 345 Wis. 2d 407, ¶32 (erroneous exercise of discretion review); *Plude*, 310 Wis. 2d 28, ¶33 (question of law).

The admission of "other acts" evidence is subject to Wis. Stat. § 904.04 and *State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998). *Sullivan* articulates a three-pronged test, as follows:

- (1) Is the other acts evidence offered for an acceptable purpose under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 904.04(2), such as establishing motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident?
- (2) Is the other acts evidence relevant, considering the two facets of relevance set forth in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 904.01? The first consideration in assessing relevance is whether the other act evidence relates to a fact or proposition that is of consequence to the determination of the action. The second consideration in assessing relevance is whether the evidence has probative value, that is, whether the other acts evidence has a tendency to make the consequential fact or proposition more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.
- (3) Is the probative value of the other acts evidence substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time or needless presentation of cumulative evidence?

*Id.* at 772-73 (citations and footnote omitted). If "other acts" evidence is erroneously excluded, reversal is necessary only if its exclusion was prejudicial to the appellant's case. *Cf. id.* at 773.

As noted above, this court in *Missouri* analyzed the defendant's proffered testimony from five other men who had been battered and/or framed by Jason Mucha, the lead officer at Missouri's arrest and a trial witness against him. *See Missouri*, 291 Wis. 2d 466, ¶¶2-8, 10. This court concluded that the "other acts" evidence was admissible under *Sullivan*:

The evidence at issue here addresses the character of a witness, Officer Mucha, and specifically, whether he is being truthful or untruthful in denying physical abuse and planting evidence. Based on § 904.04, Scull's testimony<sup>5</sup> could not be admitted for the purpose of showing that because Mucha mistreated Scull, he also must have mistreated Missouri. However, § 904.04 does allow character evidence for other purposes.

Specifically, "other-acts" character evidence can be admitted to show "proof of motive ... intent ... or absence of mistake or accident." It can also be admitted to show the bias or prejudice of a witness. Here, the defense wanted to introduce Scull's testimony to show that Mucha had a motive to lie and cover up what he had done, and that this was intentional, not the result of a mistake or accident. The Scull evidence would also be used to show that Mucha intended to frame Missouri for a crime, which occurred because Mucha's prejudice toward black people causes him to commit physical assaults and use excessive force. We conclude that the Scull evidence satisfied the "other purpose" prong of the *Sullivan* test.

We also conclude that the Scull evidence was relevant to a consequential fact. Here, the Scull testimony is very similar in substance and time to what occurred in the instant case. The Scull testimony would be very relevant in questioning Mucha's credibility and truthfulness. It would be relevant to show that Mucha had a motive to lie ..., that Mucha had the intent to frame Missouri for a crime he did not commit, and that Mucha's conduct was not an accident. Thus, we also conclude that the second prong of the *Sullivan* test is satisfied.

Missouri, 291 Wis. 2d 466, ¶¶14-16 (citations omitted). Finally, the court concluded that the probative value if the evidence would not be substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, waste of time or confusing the jury. See id. ¶17 (citing Wis. Stat. § 904.03). The court's application of the Sullivan analysis to Missouri's other proffered witnesses yielded the same result. See id. ¶¶24-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>See supra at 9.

A circuit court may, in its discretion, deny a postconviction motion without a hearing. *See State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 309-10, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996); *Nelson v. State*, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497-98, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972).

Whether a defendant's postconviction motion alleges sufficient facts to entitle the defendant to a hearing for the relief requested is a mixed standard of review. First, we determine whether the motion on its face alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief. This is a question of law that we review de novo. If the motion raises such facts, the circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing. However, if the motion does not raise facts sufficient to entitle the movant to relief, or presents only conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief, the circuit court has the discretion to grant or deny a hearing. We require the circuit court "to form its independent judgment after a review of the record and pleadings and to support its decision by written opinion." We review a circuit court's discretionary decisions under the deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard.

State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, ¶9, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433 (citations omitted).

If the circuit court erroneously denies a properly supported newly-discovered-evidence motion without a hearing, the appropriate remedy is not a new trial but remand to the circuit court for an evidentiary hearing at which the proffered witnesses must testify. *See State v. Love*, 2005 WI 116, ¶56, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62; *State ex rel. Booker v. Schwarz*, 2004 WI App 50, ¶20, 270 Wis. 2d 745, 678 N.W.2d 361. Depending on what it learns at the evidentiary hearing it is then up to the circuit court to determine whether a new trial is warranted. *See In re Commitment of Sorenson*, 2002 WI 78, ¶39, 254 Wis. 2d 54, 646 N.W.2d 354; *Schwarz*, 270 Wis. 2d 745, ¶¶9, 20.

# B. Analysis.

1. Summary of Franklin's argument and introduction to State's response.

# Franklin's theory is that

- allegations by five unrelated men about their mistreatment by Officer Jason Mucha were admissible in Walter Missouri's new trial,
- Officer Paul Lough was a member of the rogue group of officers whose most notorious member was Mucha,
- under *Missouri*, allegations by six unrelated men regarding their mistreatment by members of the Mucha group (not necessarily Lough) would be admissible in a retrial of Franklin,
- with such evidence, there is a reasonable probability that the jury in a retrial of Franklin would find him not guilty,
- therefore, Franklin is entitled to a new trial.

# Franklin's theory fails.

The circuit court's decision denying Franklin's postconviction motion was correct and should be affirmed. The State assumes that Franklin has satisfied three of the first four questions posed by the newly discovered evidence test: the proffered evidence was discovered after his conviction, he was not negligent for failing to discover it sooner, and it was not "merely cumulative." *Plude*, 310 Wis. 2d 28, ¶32. However, as the State will show, the evidence is "not material to an issue in the case." *Id.* Concomitantly, it would not be admissible under *Sullivan*. Given its immateriality and inadmissibility, it would have no "reasonable probability" of yielding a different result from the jury. *See Plude*, 310 Wis. 2d 28, ¶32. Furthermore, Franklin's implicit theory, that Lough planted the gun, drugs, and drug paraphernalia

in the van, makes no sense given his own testimony and the undisputed facts of the case.

# 2. Summary of postconviction evidence.

In later subsections, the State will show that Franklin's proffered evidence would be inadmissible under *Sullivan*, is not "material" under the newly discovered evidence test, and would have no reasonable probability of leading to a different verdict. Before doing so, the State will briefly review Franklin's evidence about the six victims, highlighting the inadequacies of this evidence under *Sullivan* and the newly discovered evidence test.

Jermaine Cameron. According to Franklin: Cameron complained that he was framed by three officers, including Lough, in Milwaukee Case Number 2002-CF-6863. Franklin's Brief at 8. Cameron was convicted in that case of possession of cocaine with intent to deliver. *Id.* A postconviction investigation revealed that two other men were most likely guilty of the crime for which Cameron had been convicted. Id. at 9. This court ordered the circuit court to conduct an evidentiary hearing into the "After remand, the parties reached a matter. Id. settlement where the conviction was vacated and Mr. Cameron entered a No Contest plea to a misdemeanor and received time served." Id.

Franklin's evidence about Cameron's case consisted of a "CCAP" (Wisconsin Circuit Court Access Program) list of the record events in State v. Cameron; Cameron's postconviction motion based on newly discovered evidence (included in the motion's attachments were the criminal complaint against Cameron and Cameron's post-arrest statement); and this court's opinion and order summarily remanding Cameron's case for a postconviction evidentiary hearing (70:29-71). The evidence did not include an affidavit from Cameron or any other evidence that Cameron would testify for the defense were Franklin granted a new trial.

The Cameron evidence does not meet the legal standards of *Sullivan* and *Plude*. First, Franklin presents not a scintilla of evidence suggesting that Lough was even involved in Cameron's case. Lough was not mentioned in Cameron's criminal complaint (70:47-48), was not identified by Cameron in his signed probation/parole statement (70:59-63), did not testify at Cameron's trial (70:32), and was not named in Cameron's postconviction motion or accompanying affidavit (70:38-45, 49-51). Second, the resolution of Cameron's case does not prove that he was in fact framed. Cameron claimed at trial "that he had been framed, and that Officer McNair lied" This court concluded that Cameron's newly discovered evidence that two other men were the more likely culprits "arguably demonstrated that coincidental circumstances wrongfully led to [Cameron's] conviction" (70:67). It remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing without determining whether Officer McNair or the new evidence was more credible (70:70-71). Had Cameron's innocence been definitively established (or McNair proved a liar), one assumes that the resolution would have been dismissal of the charges, not a misdemeanor<sup>6</sup> plea (70:36).

For these reasons, the Cameron evidence is irrelevant and does not support the relief requested.

b. <u>Draylon Oliver</u>. According to Franklin: Oliver accused Lough and three other officers of beating him during a 2003 arrest. Franklin's Brief at 9.

To support his Oliver claim, Franklin relies exclusively on an article from "OnMilwaukee.com," written by Doug Hissom and titled "Surveying the debate on surveillance cameras" (70:72). The article is not a piece of news reporting, but a several-pronged critique of several matters pending before or recently disposed of by

- 18 -

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The record does not reveal whether Cameron pleaded to a misdemeanor, but Franklin asserts that he did (70:36). Franklin's Brief at 9.

the Milwaukee Common Council (70:72-75). The article states in pertinent part:

A bill from the [law firm of Eggert & Cermele] being considered by a Common Council committee next week is \$23,908.75. In a case where attorney Jonathan Cermele billed the city for \$2,110.50 for representing four notorious cops, the resulting dismissal of the complaint by the Fire and Police Commission actually had nothing to do with the firm's legal prowess—the plaintiff in the case happened to be in jail after being arrested on a bailjumping charge and couldn't make it to testify against the cops.

. . . .

The case stems from a police battery complaint from Draylon Oliver, who accused officers Joseph Warren, Paul Lough, Dean Newport and Michael Lutz of beating him during a 2003. [sic]

(70:73). Franklin did not include an affidavit from Oliver or any other evidence that Oliver would testify for the defense were Franklin granted a new trial.

The Oliver evidence does not meet the legal standard. This evidence is blatant hearsay. The State concedes that a postconviction motion "need not demonstrate theories of admissibility for every factual assertion he or she seeks to introduce." Love, 284 Wis. 2d However, Franklin should be required to provide more than a "thought piece" about the recent activities of a political body, which alludes in passing to a fact of possible relevance to his motion. Presumably, Franklin could have provided court documents similar to those supporting his Cameron allegations if they supported his Oliver allegations. His failure to do so is unexplained and should give this court pause. Moreover, the paucity of detail in Hissom's article renders the evidence virtually meaningless. What, precisely, was Lough accused of doing to Oliver? Do we really know that the complaint was dismissed because of Oliver's involuntary failure to appear and not because it lacked merit?

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